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INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF SOUTH CAROLINA
CHARLESTON DIVISION

ANDREW J. McCORMACK, )
) No. 2:12-cv-3089-DCN
Plaintiff, )
)
VS. )
) ORDER
THE BOEING COMPANY, )
)
Defendant. )
)

This matter is before the court on Mstgate Judge Bruce Howe Hendricks’s
Report and Recommendation (“R&R”) thhts court grant The Boeing Company’s
(“Boeing”) motion for summary judgmentPlaintiff Andrew J. McCormack
(“McCormack”) filed written objections to the&R. For the reasons set forth below, the
court adopts the R&R and grants Boeing’s motion for summary judgment.

|. BACKGROUND

A.  Factual Allegations'

In 2009, McCormack, who was over the agéoofy at all times relevant to the
action and whose country of national origgriGreat Britainywas hired by Global
Aeronautica, LLC. Pl.’s Aff. 11 2, 6, 8-@ompl. 1 59. McCormack began work as an
aircraft painter level A in the paint depaent and was supervised by Frank Prado
(“Prado”). Pl’s Aff. § 7; Pl.’s Depl37:24-138:3. After Boeing acquired Global

Aeronautica, McCormack became a Boeing employee. Pl.’s Aff. 9, 11.

! The facts and evidence are consideretidiscussed in the light most favorable
McCormack, the party opposing summary jodnt. _Pittman v. Nelms, 87 F.3d 116, 118
(4th Cir. 1996).
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On January 24, 2010, McCormack submitted a complaint to Boeing'’s internal
equal employment opportunity (“EEQ”) off regarding allegedly discriminatory
remarks made by Prado about McCormacktsonal origin. Pl.’s Resp. Ex. 17. Boeing
investigated the complainsgued a report indicating thataélo was in violation of the
company’s workplace harassment policy, discgaditnim, and transferred him out of the
paint department. Pl.’s Dep. 205:6-17; $#Resp. Ex. 18. Tim Jennings (“Jennings”)
became McCormack’s supervisor for a time before Ray Owens (“Owens”) was hired as
the manager of the second shift, on which McCormack worked. Pl.’s Resp. Exs. 26, 27.

On May 3, 2010, McCormack contacted the EEO office and alleged he was being
retaliated against bynather painter based on his complaint against Prado. Pl.’s Resp.
Ex. 20. McCormack later stated that heé dot wish to pursue the allegation and the
complaint was closed at his request. Adiditionally, at some point McCormack’s
coworker Donald Dietrich overheard Jennings call McCormack a “wafkBt.’s Resp.
Ex. 27. McCormack commonly referred to himself as a “wanker” and his coworkers
came to use the term._Id. While Ma@wack thought it was funny initially, Dietrich
asserts that he later “didn’tittk it was funny anymore.”_1d.

On July 2, 2010, McCormack was promotedhe position o#ircraft painter
level B and received a pay raise. $Resp. Ex. 4. In December 2010, McCormack
received a performance evaluation for pleeiod of June 6, 2010 through December 31,
2010. Pl.’s Aff. Ex. C. The evaluationdicated that McCormack either “met” or

“exceed[ed]” expectations in every categotd. Owens recommended, and McCormack

2 A wanker is a chiefly British and usually vulgar term for a jerk or a person who
masturbates. Wanker Definition, Miaim-Webster.com, http://www.merriam-
webster.com/dictionary/wanker (last visited MAr. 31, 2014).
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received, the highest raise of all employeethe paint department. Owens Dep. 34:1-
17; Pl.’s Resp. Ex. 16.

During this time, McCormack felt he was being underpaid. Pl.’s Dep. 173:3-8.
He also became frustrated with the faettthis group in the paint department did not
have enough work, and he became tired of “sitting around” and “doing nothing.” Pl.’s
Dep. 105:22-106:4, 142:10-14, 142:20-22, 14£230-McCormack requested, and was
granted, a transfer to another departmeaping that the new department would be
busier® Pl.’s Resp. Ex. 30; Pl.’s Dep. 14P:14; 148:17-149:11. However, McCormack
shortly thereafter became frustrated with new department because there was
“confusion” as to his role. Pl.’s Dep51:25-152:8. Within aboutvo weeks of his
transfer, McCormack requested to transfer back to the paint department. Pl.’s Dep.
152:9-14; 153:8-154:6. Thisqeest was not granted and Jennings told McCormack to
give the transfer morgme. Pl.’s Dep. 154:17-24.

On May 16, 2011, McCormack resigned from Boeing because management failed
to “clarify and rectify his trasfer to another department”’cibecause they would not let
him transfer back into the paint departme@ompl.  25; Pl.’s Dep. 163:21-22. In an
exit survey, McCormack indicatedat he was leaving for bettprospects, reiterated his
complaints about not being compensated adty for his knowledge, and complained
that he did not receive enough respect femme managers. Def.’s Mot. Ex. H.

Following his resignation, McCormack helik different jobswith different

employers. Pl.’s Dep. 245:7-15. On Glér 31, 2011, Boeing posted an opening for an

% There seems to be a dispute regagdivhether McCormack was transferred or
loaned to the other department. See PIl.'spR87 (“The record clearly represents that
the Plaintiff was not transfer (sic) but grdn loan.”);_but see Pl.’'s Dep. 142:10 (“I
transferred to another department . . . This factual dispute is not material.
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aircraft painter level A position, whidiicCormack applied for in November 2011.
Compl. T 26; Pl.’'s Dep. 244:21-24%Def.’s Mot. Ex. K. This position was an entry-
level position and paid less than the paidevel B position he held at the time he
resigned. Pl.’s Dep. 245:20-24. Jennings@aekns hired nine people, six of whom
were over the age of forty. Jennings Depl132t8; Def.’s Mot. Ex. K. Jennings and
Owens did not hire McCormack because tkegw that he was not happy with his pay or
his job responsibilities before resignindennings Dep. 27:4-28:@wens Dep. 21:6-12.
They were also concerned that McCormack would needlessBaseBoeing’s training
expenses, considering thatweuld have to go through themsa training he had already
gone through and that he was a threat$@greagain. Jennind3ep. 27:1-4; Owens Dep.
21:12-18. After not being selected, McCormack filed a complaint with Boeing’s EEO
office in December 2011. Pl.’s Dep. 270:7-Boeing investigated and determined that
no discrimination occurred. Pl.’s Dep. 291:25-292:10.

In February 2012, McCormack applied foraircraft painter level C job with
Boeing, which was located on its flight lin®avid Bradley was the hiring manager for
the flight line and made the hiring decisidosthis position. Pl.’s Resp. 16. Two
individuals were hired for the position, oageer and one under the age of 40. Def.’s
Mot. Ex. K. According to Bradley, McComack was not hired because his experience
“fit a different . . . aircraft painting mid” — specifically, most of McCormack’s
experience was inside painting and Brgdias looking for someone with outside
painting experience. Bradley Dep. 20:7-20.

In March 2012, McCormack applied for twmmore positions at Boeing: aircraft

painter level A and an aircraft painter letel Pl.'s Resp. 18. Seven people were hired



for the level A position, five of whom were avhe age of forty. Def.’s Mot. Ex. K.
One person, who was over the age of fortys Wiaed for the painter B position. Id.
Once again, Jennings and Owens stated thgtdid not hire McCormack because they
had concerns over training expenses angbtitential costs of hiring McCormack only to
have him resign again because his pay twa low. Jennings Dep. 26:24-27:15, 47:13-
19; Owens Dep. 21:3-18.

McCormack then applied for two positions outside the paint department. In April
2012, he applied for a fabrication specidBsosition. Pl.’s Resp. 19, 20. All three
individuals hired for the positiowere over the age of forty. Def.’s Mot. Ex. K. In May
2012, McCormack applied for an electriessembler B position. Pl.’s Dep. 311:19-
312:12. Of the twenty-three individuals hired fois position, ten we over the age of
forty. Def.’s Mot. Ex. K. McCormack filé an additional complaint with the Boeing
EEO office in June 2012, alleging that Boeingddito rehire him on the basis of his age
and national origin. Pl.’s Dep. 306:13-21.islunclear what happened with this final
EEO complaint.

B. Procedural History

McCormack filed a charge of discrination with the United States Equal
Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOGh February 2012, alleging that Boeing
failed to rehire him on the basis of his age aational origin. PIs Aff. Ex. F. The
EEOC issued a right to sue notme July 27, 2012. Compl. Ex. A.

On September 18, 2012, McCormack filecoaplaint in sta court asserting
claims for discrimination and retaliation on the basis of nationailhoingviolation of

Title VII of the Civil Rights Act 0f1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000(e), et seq., and for



discrimination and retaliation on the basisage in violation of the Age Discrimination

in Employment Act (“ADEA”), 29 U.S.C. § 62t seq. Boeing removed the case to this
court on October 25, 2012 and moved for summary judgment on July 1, 2013.
McCormack responded on August 5, 2013. Boeing filed a reply on August 15, 2013.
The magistrate judge filed an R&R on Marg, 2014, recommending that the court grant
Boeing’s motion for summary judgment. McCormack filed objections to the R&R on
March 24, 2014. This matter has been fullgted and is ripe for the court’s review.

[I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This court is charged with conductiagle novo review of any portion of the
magistrate judge’s R&R to which specifigritten objections are made. 28 U.S.C. §
636(b)(1). A party’s failure to object is@epted as agreement with the conclusions of

the magistrate judge. See Thomas \n,A74 U.S. 140, 149-50 (1985). In absence of a

timely filed objection to a magistrate judg&®&R, this court need not conduct a_ de novo

review, but instead must “only satisfy itselaththere is no clear m@r on the face of the

record in order to accept the recommeratati Diamond v. Colonial Life & Acc. Ins.

Co., 416 F.3d 310, 315 (4th Cir. 2005) (citing Fed. R. Civ. P. 72 advisory committee’s
note). The recommendation of the magistpatige carries no presumptive weight, and

the responsibility to make a final determioatirests with this court. Mathews v. Weber,

423 U.S. 261, 270-71 (1976). This court may ataeject, or modify the report of the
magistrate judge, in whole or in part, oryntacommit the matter to him with instructions
for further consideration28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1).

Summary judgment is prop&f the movant shows that there is no genuine

dispute as to any material fact and the movaettitled to judgment as a matter of law.”



Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). “Only disputes over $aittat might affect the outcome of the suit
under the governing law will properly prede the entry of summary judgment.”

Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 2228 (1986). “[SJummg judgment will

not lie if the dispute abdwa material fact is ‘genuine,’ tha, if the evidence is such that
a reasonable jury could return a verdigttfte nonmoving party.” 1d. At the summary
judgment stage, the court must view the euick in the light most favorable to the
nonmoving party and draw all reasonaiblierences in his favor. _Id. at 255.

1. DISCUSSION

McCormack advances objections badlthe magistrate judge’s findings
regarding his discrimination claims basedage and national origin and to findings
regarding his retaliation clais. The court considers eaahthe claims in turn.

A. Discrimination Based on Age and National Origin

Title VIl and the ADEA provide that “[i]t shall be an unlawful employment
practice for an employer . . . to refuse to hire or otherwise to dcriminate against any
individual . . . because of” such individual’s sex or agé2 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a)(1); 29
U.S.C. § 623(a)(1). In general, there ‘dve avenues” by whicla plaintiff may prove

wrongful discharge based on discrimination. Béev. Lockheed Martin Logistics

Magmt., Inc., 354 F.3d 277, 284 (4th Cir. 2004) (en banc). First, a plaintiff may “utilize

* Although the statutes are similar in langaathey differ significantly in that the
ADEA requires proof “by a preponderance af ttvidence (which may be direct or
circumstantial), that age wése ‘but-for’ cause of the challenged employer decision,”
Gross v. FBL Fin. Servs., Inc., 557 U.S. 180@9), while Title VII claims only require
that a plaintiff demonstrate that the protek characteristic was a motivating factor in
the employment decision, even if it was na sole motivating factor. See 42 U.S.C. §
2000e-2(m); Price Waterhouse v. Hopkins, 4P8. 228, 241 (1989). However, because
the court finds that McCormack has not siéid his burden of showing that either
national origin or age was adtor in Boeing’s decision not tehire him, this variance
between the statutes is rggrmane to the case at hand.
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ordinary principles of proof.”_Bnkley v. Harbour Recreation Club, 180 F.3d 598, 607

(4th Cir. 1999) (internal quotatiomsnitted), abrogated on other grounddigsert

Palace, Inc. v. Costa, 539 U.S. 90 (2003).e$tblish discrimination using this method,

a plaintiff must “demonstrat[eéhrough direct or circumantial evidence that . . .
discrimination motivated the employer’s adse employment decision.” Hill, 354 F.3d
at 284. McCormack appears to concede lteatannot prove wrongful termination using
ordinary principles of proof. Pl.’s Resp. 26.

The second avenue available to pldistis to follow the burden-shifting

approach first articulated by the Supre@aurt in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green

411 U.S. 792 (1973). Hill, 354 F.3d at 285 (applying_the McDonnell Douglas approach

to Title VIl and ADEA claims); Reeves Sanderson Plumbing Prods., Inc., 530 U.S.

133, 142 (2000) (assuming that the McDdhBeuglas burden-shifting framework

applies to ADEA claims). The McDonnelldDglas framework establishes a three-step

proof scheme under which the burden of eviidey production is shifted back and forth
between the plaintiff and defendant; howevke ultimate burden of persuasion never
shifts from the plaintiff to prove intéional unlawful discrimination. See Williams v.

Cerberonics, Inc., 871 F.2d 452, 456 n.2 (4th £989). Under MDonnell Douglas, the

plaintiff must first establish a “primaé€ie case of discrimination.” Merritt v. Old

Dominion Freight Line, Inc., 601 F.3d 289, 294h(Lir. 2010) (citing Tex. Dep't of

Cmty. Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248, 252-3381)). Once the plaintiff establishes a

prima facie case, the burdengbduction shifts to the emmpter to produce evidence of a
legitimate, non-discriminatory reason the adverse employment action. McDonnell

Douglas 411 U.S. at 802. Finally, if the defendamtets this burden, the plaintiff must



then prove that the defendant’s proffered oeas'were not its trueeasons, but were a
pretext for discrimination.”_Reeves, 530 U.S. at 143.

At the first step of the McDonnell Dowad approach, a plaintiff establishes a

prima facie case of failure to hire based oa agnational origin by showing that: (1) he
is a member of a protected class; (2) peliad for the position in question; (3) he was
gualified for the position; and (4) he wageted for the position in favor of someone
outside the protected class undecumstances giving rise &m inference of unlawful

discrimination._Mackey v. Shalala60 F.3d 463, 468 (4th Cir. 2004); Brown v.

McLean, 159 F.3d 898, 902 (4th Cir. 1998).

The parties do not dispute that McCormack meets the first two elements — he is a
member of a protected class based on hesaagl national originrel he applied for the
positions in question. In addition, the partiese not objected to the magistrate judge’s
determination that McCormack was qualified loe positions of painter levels A, B, and
C, as well as electrical assembler B.

McCormack’s first objection concertise magistrate judge’s finding that
McCormack failed to establish the fourttopg of his prima facie case — that he was
rejected for the position in favor ofre@one outside the protected class under
circumstances giving rise to an infecerof unlawful discrimination. See R&R 10.
McCormack argues that he has preseptedence sufficient to infer unlawful
discrimination. Pl.’s Objections 4-5. Fitre purposes of this der, the court will
assume, without deciding, that McCormack has met the fourth prong and therefore

established a prima factase of discrimination.



Because the court assumes that McCormack has established a prima facie case, a
presumption of illegal discrimination aris@sd the burden of production shifts to the
employer who must articulate a legititeanon-discriminatory reason for the

employment action. Hoyle v. Freightlineén. C, 650 F.3d 321, 336 (4th Cir. 2011). The

magistrate judge found that Boeing has altimd legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons
for not hiring McCormack. R&R 11. Mc@mack does not object to the magistrate
judge’s findings or argue that the Bogis proffered reasons are illegitimate or
discriminatory? Therefore, the court adopts the R&nd finds that Boeing has met its
burden of producing evidence of legitimaten-discriminatory reasons for its actidns.
Where a defendant employer carriesiisden to produce evidence of a
legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for @stions, “the presumption raised by the

prima facie case is rebutted,” Burdine, 45@& it 255, and the prima facie case thus “is

no longer relevant” and “simply drops outtbé picture.”_St. Mary’s Honor Ctr. v.

Hicks, 509 U.S. 502, 510-11 (1993). Rathee, qnestion becomes whether the plaintiff
can demonstrate that the employer’s sta¢@don is pretextual, which requires the

plaintiff “to prove ‘boh that the reason was false, dhdt discrimination was the real

> McCormack’s objections are somewhat diffit to parse. While he objects to
the magistrate judge’s decision “regarding Befendant’s non-discriminatory reason”
for not hiring him, his rationale is more akiman argument about pretext. See Pl.’s
Objections 6-10. In other words, McCaok does not argue that Boeings proffered
justifications are illegitimate or discriminatgmather, he argues that those justifications
were not the actual justifations motivating Boeing’s aoh here._See, e.g., Pl.’s
Objections 6 (arguing that “theier of fact can reasonabilyfer from the falsity of the
explanation that the employer is dissemglio cover up a discriminatory purpose”).
Therefore, this objection will be treated asodection to the magistrate judge’s findings
regarding pretext, despite the fact that MoGack never uses the word “pretext” in his
brief.

® A detailed discussion of the justifiiens advanced by Boeing follows below in
the court’s consideration of McCoatk’s objection concerning pretext.
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reason.” Adams v. Trs. of the Univ. of N.C.-Wilmington, 640 F.3d 550, 560 (4th Cir.

2011) (quoting Jiminez v. Mary Washington Coll., 57 F.3d 369, 378 (4th Cir. 1995))

(emphasis in original). “[W]hen an enayter articulates a reason for discharging the
plaintiff not forbidden by law, it is not [theourt’s] province to decide whether the reason
was wise, fair, or even correct, ultimatedp, long as it truly was the reason for the

plaintiff's termination.” _Giannopoulos Brach & Brock Confections, Inc., 109 F.3d

406, 411 (7th Cir. 1997).

McCormack objects to the magistrate judgendings regarding pretext on the
grounds that a reasonable jury could fingttBoeings justifications are false, and
therefore that discrimination was the resdson McCormack vsanot hired. Pl.’s
Objections 6. A plaintiff may estabfigretext “by showing that the employer’s
proffered explanation is unworthy of credeh using “the evidence establishing the
plaintiff’'s prima face case ‘and inferencesperly drawn therefrom.”_Reeves, 530 U.S.
at 143 (quoting Burdine, 450 U.S. at 255 n.18)though “proof that ‘the employer’s
proffered reason is unpersuasive, or evbwiously contrived, does not necessarily

establish that the plaintiff's proffered reas. . . is correct,” the Supreme Court has
made clear that in appropriate circumses “rejection of the defendant’s proffered
reasons will permit the trier of fact to infer the ultimate fact of intentional
discrimination;” that is, “the trier of fadan reasonably infer frothe falsity of the
explanation that the employer is dissemgylio cover up a discriminatory purpose.”
Reeves, 530 U.S. at 146-47 (quotations and citation omitted). As the Supreme Court

noted, “once the employer’s justification hagbeliminated, discrimination may well be

the most likely alternative explanation, esplly since the employer is in the best
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position to put forth the actual reason fordexision.” _Reeves, 530 U.S. at 147. As a
result, “a plaintiff's prima facie case, combinedh sufficient evidence to find that the
employer’s asserted justification is false, npgymit the trier of fact to conclude that the
employer unlawfully discriminated,” and allowetiplaintiff to show a genuine dispute of
material fact sufficient to defeaummary judgment._Id. at 148.

Boeing asserts that McCormack was noedhifor the painter level A and B jobs
because Jennings and Owens knew that Mo@ok was not happy with his pay or his
job responsibilities. Jennings Dep. 27:428wens Dep. 21:6-12. They were also
concerned that McCormack would needigsscrease Boeing’'sraining expenses,
considering that he would have to gooiigh the same training he had already gone
through and that there was a possibility th@mmay resign again. Jennings Dep. 27:1-4;
Owens Dep. 21:12-18. McCormack hasted that he was unhappy with and
complained about his pay, Pl.’s Dep. 173&-and in his exit survey cited higher
compensation as something he would change about Boeing. Def.’s Mot. Ex. H.
McCormack has introduced no evidence to stimat Boeing’s reasons for not hiring him
for these positions were falSe.

Boeing asserts that McCormack was Inioed for the painter C position because

there were other more qualified applicanBee Bradley Dep. 20:1-22:21. McCormack

" In his response brief, McCormack argtiest Dietrich testified that McCormack
did not complain at work. Pl.’s Resp. 34. wver, as noted by the magistrate judge, a
review of Dietrich’s deposition reveals heerely testified thabe did not know if
McCormack complained “while he was wangion airplanes.” Diech Dep. 10:3-5.
Moreover, Dietrich testified that McCormackraplained to him about pay “quite often.”
Dietrich Dep. 9:24-10:2.
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contends that he is more qualified (or equglilified) than the two individuals hired.
Pl.’s Resp. 34. However, McCormack pm®$ no evidence to support this statement.
Even though McCormack may believe that hem@e qualified, “[iJtis the perception of
the decision maker which is relevant, not tHéagesessment of the plaintiff.”_DeJarnette

v. Corning, Inc., 133 F.3d 293, 299 (4th Cir. 1998) (quotation and citation omitted); see

also Anderson v. Westinghouse SavannahRBee, 406 F.3d 248, 272 (4th Cir. 2005)

(holding that courts “do not sit as a “swpersonnel department weighing the prudence
of employment decisionghade by defendants).

Boeing also asserts that reajualified individuals were hired for the electrical
assembler B position. Although McCormack claimswas “as qualified” as those hired,
Pl.’s Resp. 35, he admits that while hel tlaree and a half years’ experience as an
electrical assembler B, Pl.Bep. 311:19-21, “the electricallps went to people with like
20 plus years experience.” Pl.’'s D&15:9-11. Once again, McCormack has not
advanced evidence that Boeing'sffered justification was false.

McCormack has simply failed to providay evidence giving rise to a genuine

issue of material fact regarding whethereBw's reasons for failing to hire him were

8 In failure to hire cases, a plaintiff castablish pretext not only by showing that
the employer’s proffered justifications weedse, but also by showing that “[his]
gualifications were so plainly superior that the employer could nat peeferred another
candidate.”_Dennis v. Columbia Colbet Med. Ctr., 290 F.3d 639, 648 n.4 (4th Cir.
2002). In other words, the plaintiff must ddish that the decisiomaker could not have
preferred the selectee “in thesaince of some ulterior motive such as a discriminatory
desire to deny the position to [tp&intiff].” Herring v. Thompson, 2003 WL 23590541,
at *7 (D. Md. May 12, 2003) (characterizitlys standard as a “heavy burden”).
McCormack has not advanced such an arguimera, and even if he had, he falls well
short of satisfying the associated heavy burden.

® McCormack references an EEO reffortthe prospect that his resume
referenced more experience than the otgividuals. Pl.’'s Resp. 34. However, as
noted by the magistrate judge, the exhibitmefieed merely reiterates Bradley’s reasons
for finding the other employees magealified. See Pl.’s Resp. Ex. 48.
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falsel® The “final pretext inquiry mergesith the ultimate burden of persuading the
court that the plaintiff has beéhe victim of intentional dicrimination, which at all times

remains with the plaintiff.”_Merritt, 60E.3d at 294 (quotation marks and alteration

omitted). Because McCormack filed to show pretext, he has not carried his burden and
therefore the court grants Boeing sumynadgment on McCormack’s discrimination
claims based on age and national origin.

B. Retaliation

Title VIl and the ADEA both make it unlawful for an employer to discriminate
against any employee or digant because such individuzas opposed a practice made
unlawful by either law, or because such individual “made a charge, testified, assisted, or
participated in any manner an investigation, proceeding, olidgation” under either law.
42 U.S.C. 8§ 2000e-3(a); 29 U.S.C. § 623(dptaliation claims follow the three-step

framework of McDonnell Douglas. Laughlin Metro. Wash. Airports Auth., 149 F.3d

253, 258 (4th Cir. 1998). To prove a prima éacase of retaliation, a plaintiff must
prove three elements: (1) that he engageuotected activity; (2) that an adverse
employment action was taken against hing é3) that there was a causal link between
the protected activity and the adse employment action. Id.

McCormack objects to the magistratelge’s recommendation that this court
grant Boeing summary judgment on his liateon claim. Pl.’s Objections 10.
McCormack’s objections, however, are mostiyclusory and lack evidentiary support.

While McCormack argues that he has “clearlgganted facts that substantiate a genuine

19 McCormack lists several “significafacts” which he claims support his
argument that Boeing’s justifications werésa Pl.’s Objections 6-10. However, none
of those facts directly fate the reasons Boeing gafeg not hiring McCormack.
Therefore, to the extent those facts ardigpute, they are not material facts.
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issue of material fact for the jury” and tl#te record clearly shows a causal connection
between the Plaintiff’'s complaints and théuee to hire,” he provides absolutely no
evidentiary support for these statements. “hasthe Court’s respoiislity to comb the
record either for supporting ielence or to craft argumerfts a party.” _Pauling v.

Greenville Transit Auth., No. 6:05-cv-1372, 2006 WL 3354512, at *8 (D.S.C. Nov. 16,

2006). Regardless, even if the court assumes McCormack could satisfy a prima facie
showing of retaliation, Boeing has advanéegitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons for
not hiring him. And, as discussed at ldngbove, McCormack has failed to show that
Boeing’s proffered justifications weregiextual. McCormack “bears the ultimate
burden of proving that [he] has been thetim of retaliation.” Laughlin, 149 F.3d at

258. He has not done so here. TherefBozing is entitled to summary judgment on
McCormack’s retaliation claims.

V. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the coAIDOPT S the magistrate judge’s R&R
andGRANTS defendant’s motion for summary judgment.

AND IT ISSO ORDERED.

DAVID C. NORTON
UNITED STATESDISTRICT JUDGE

March 31, 2014
Charleston, South Carolina
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